IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CV-747

Clerk of the Court Received 01/31/2024 09:41 PM Filed 01/31/2024 09:41 PM

JOHN D. MUSSELLS, et al.,

Appellants,

v.

1305 RHODE ISLAND AVE NW LLC, et al.,

Appellees.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS JOHN D. MUSSELLS AND PREMILA M. MUSSELLS

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA (CIVIL DIVISION) 2016 CA 008570 B

Kenneth C. Crickman #463225
Robert C. Cooper #414168
Cooper & Crickman, PLLC
6856 Eastern Avenue, NW #350
Washington, DC 20012
(202) 265-4520
kcrickman@cocrlaw.com
Counsel for Appellants John D. Mussells and
Premila M. Mussells

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION AND ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1). The issues presented for review are:

- Whether the trial court erred in awarding Appellee 1305 Rhode Island Ave. NW, LLC its attorneys' fees from Appellants under a statute designed to protect tenants;
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in awarding the owner of the subject real property its attorneys' fees from Appellants under the facts of this case; and
- 3. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in granting such fee-shifting in this particular case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a final order and judgment of the trial court which awarded the recovery of attorneys' fees by Appellees against the Appellants. This lawsuit originated over a dispute as to which party, Appellants or Appellee 1305 Rhode Island Ave. NW, LLC ("1305 LLC") had a valid and enforceable contract to purchase the subject property located at 1305 Rhode Island Avenue, NW, Washington, D.C. (the "Property"). Appellants claimed a superior right by virtue of their earlier contract to purchase, while 1305 LLC claimed a superior right as the assignee of the tenants' rights under the District of Columbia Tenants Opportunity to Purchase Act, D.C. Code § 42-3401, et seq. ("TOPA"). Appellants prevailed at the trial level; however, that decision was overturned on an appeal by 1305 LLC. 1305 Rhode Island Ave. NW, LLC v. Mussells, 292 A.3d 212 (D.C. 2022).

Following the decision of the Court of Appeals, both 1305 LLC and the owners of the Property, Laurie Ann Furman and Michael Jude Grippo, Trustees of The Michael John Furman Living Trust (the "Trustees") sought to recover their attorneys' fees from Appellants under a specific TOPA statute. The trial court granted both parties' motions for such fees. This appeal is from those judgments.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

- 1. In 2016, Trustees, the owners of the Property, entered into contracts of sale with first Appellants, then with 1305 LLC as the purported assignees of the tenants' rights to purchase under TOPA.
- 2. On December 22, 2016, Appellants filed an Amended Complaint seeking to enforce their contract to purchase the Property and to nullify 1305 LLC's contract. [APX 23-29]
- 3. On July 31, 2017, the Trustees filed an Amended Counterclaim in this lawsuit seeking a declaratory judgment as to which other party, Appellants or 1305 LLC, held the contractual right to purchase the Property. As part of its Counterclaim, the Trustees claimed entitlement to recover their "costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees incurred herein". [APX 30-40]
- 4. On February 9, 2017, 1305 LLC filed a Counterclaim and Crossclaim, also seeking a Declaration along with Specific Performance. The Counterclaim of 1305 LLC did not contain a request for attorneys' fees and costs, nor did it make any reference to an entitlement to attorney's fees under D.C. Code § 42-3405.03. [APX 41-51]

- 5. On March 19, 2019, the trial court entered a judgment in favor Appellants as well as a declaration regarding the competing contractual rights as requested by all parties.
- 6. On April 5, 2019, the Trustees filed a motion for award of attorneys' fees from 1305 LLC as an aggrieved owner pursuant to D.C. Code § 42-3405.03, which was granted as part of a final Judgment Order issued on May 1, 2019.
- 7. 1305 LLC did not oppose the Trustees' motion or otherwise raise the issue of attorneys' fees on their own behalf, as the alleged assignee of the tenants' rights or otherwise, until after the subsequent appeal and over a month after the judgment was reversed by the Court on December 2, 2022. [APX 56-62]
- 8. On December 2, 2022, the D.C. Court of Appeals issued an Order (amended on December 22, 2022) reversing the judgment of May 1, 2019, and remanding the case to the trial court "for further proceedings consistent with this order, including consideration of *pending* counterclaims and requests for attorneys' fees and costs." (the "Mandate") (emphasis added). The Mandate specifically referenced both D.C. Code § 42-3405.03 and D.C. Super. Ct. R. Civ. Pro. 54(d)(2)(B)(i) as part of its instruction regarding pending counterclaims and requests for attorneys' fees. [APX 52-55]

- 9. On January 26, 2023, 1305 LLC filed its Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs based on the Mandate's reversal of the trial court's judgment. [APX 56-62]
- 10. On February 10, 2023, over two months after the judgment was reversed in favor of 1305 LLC, the Trustees filed their Motion for Attorneys' Fees against Appellants. [APX 63-69]
- 11. Appellants filed Oppositions to the Motions for Attorneys' Fees pursuant to the trial court's scheduling order. [APX 70-78]
- 12. On August 7, 2023, the trial court (Judge Maurice A. Ross presiding) held a hearing, at which 1305 LLC and the Trustees were instructed to file proposed judgments in their favor regarding their motion for attorneys' fees. [APX 79-89]
- 13. On August 8, 2023, judgments were issued from which this appeal was taken. [APX 90-93]

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE 1305 LLC WAS ENTITLED TO RECOVER ITS ATTORNEYS' FEES PURSUANT TO TOPA.

1305 LLC's assertion that it is entitled to recover its attorneys' fees from Plaintiffs as the assignee of the tenants' rights under D.C. Code § 42-3405.03, which expressly applies only to an "aggrieved owner, tenant, or tenant organization", was both untimely and legally incorrect.

A. <u>1305 LLC's motion for attorneys' fees was untimely under the applicable Court Rules as well as the Appellate Court's Mandate.</u>

Appellant has claimed throughout this litigation to be the assignee of the tenants' rights under the TOPA statutes, and to therefore be standing in the shoes of the aggrieved tenants. However, it both failed to seek attorney fees in its Counterclaim and it also failed to move for recovery of attorney fees under the applicable TOPA statute (D.C. Code § 42-3405.03) within fourteen days of the reversal of the trial court's judgment on December 2, 2022, as required under D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 54(d)(2)(B)(i). Moreover, the Mandate of this Court issued on December 2, 2022 is clear that it applied only to *pending* counterclaims for attorney fees and it specifically referenced both the applicable TOPA statute and the applicable Superior Court rule regarding the timing of such a motion. [APX 52-

In a recently decided case, the Court of Appeals considered a ruling by the trial court barring an award of attorneys' fees and costs by the prevailing party under the District's Wage Payment and Collection Law and Minimum Wage Revision Act because the motion requesting the award was not filed within fourteen days of the judgment pursuant to D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 54(d)(2)(B)(i). The Court of Appeals upheld that ruling, stating that "the trial court did not err by denying, as time-barred, appellants' motion for those costs and attorneys' fees to which they were entitled..." Zuniga v. Whiting-Turner Contracting Co., 270 A.3d 897, 905 (D.C. 2022). While the Court did allow the prevailing party in that case to seek interest on the judgment under a separate statute, it denied their request for attorneys' fees and costs under D.C. Code § 32-1308(b)(1) as being untimely under Rule 54(d)(2)(B).

Another case dispositive of 1305 LLC's claim is <u>District of Columbia v.</u>

<u>Jackson</u>, 878 A.2d 489 (D.C. 2005), which, as in this case, involved the reversal of the trial court's judgment. While the <u>Jackson</u> decision suggests that a new 14-day period may arise where the appeal results in a reversal of the trial court's judgment, it still strictly requires timely action:

There is no indication in the record, and Jackson does not argue, that Jackson filed a motion for attorney's fees within fourteen days of the July 29, 1999 judgment, that during that fourteen-day period she requested a court order enlarging the fourteen-day time limit, or that she filed a motion under Rule 6(b) alleging "excusable neglect." There is no indication that the trial

court, sua sponte, entered an order extending the fourteen-day time limit. Any of these events would have put the District on notice that Jackson would be seeking attorney's fees, and thus satisfied one of the stated purposes of Rule 54(d)(2)(B)... Jackson followed none of these procedures. Thus, her motion for attorney's fees was untimely, and the trial court was not in a position to rule upon its merits. The trial court's order awarding attorney's fees is therefore reversed.

Id. at 494. See also, Note 6: "[W]hile the 14-day period is not jurisdictional, the failure to comply should be sufficient reason to deny the fee motion, absent some compelling showing of good cause."). In fact, in the only TOPA case cited by 1305 LLC in its motion for fees, Malik Corp. v. Tenacity Group, LLC, 961 A.2d 1057 (D.C. 2008), the Court stated that "[o]ur rules require Tenacity [the third-party purchaser] to file with the Clerk an itemized and verified bill of costs and fees, accompanied by proof of service, within fourteen days from entry of judgment." Id. at 1063.

Additionally, 1305 LLC is barred from seeking its attorneys' fees and costs by its failure to plead for such relief in its Counterclaim [APX 41-51] and to preserve any such claim on appeal. "[W]e have indicated that filing the attorney fees motion within the fourteen day time frame set forth in Rule 54(d)(2)(B) (or within the time frame specified by the court) was sufficient to preserve the request pending appeal." Purcell v. Thomas, 28 A.3d 1138, 1142 (D.C. 2011). Also, in Van Leeuwen v. Blodnikar, 144 A.3d 565 (D.C. 2016), the trial court ruled on its own initiative that the Blodnikars, as third-party purchasers who were assignees of

the tenants' TOPA rights, were *not* entitled to their attorneys' fees from the owner of the property. Because the Blodnikars failed to file a timely motion or otherwise object to the trial court's ruling, the Court of Appeals upheld the decision. "Under the circumstances, we do not view the Blodnikars as having properly preserved this procedural objection in the trial court." <u>Id.</u> at 570. 1305 LLC was likewise silent on the issue until January 26, 2023, well past the reversal of the trial court's decision on December 2, 2022.

Finally, the Court's Mandate in this case contained no mention or instruction regarding a request for attorney's fees by 1305 LLC, because there was none. It included only the Trustees' request for such an award made in their counterclaim. "On remand, the trial court may also undertake such further proceedings consistent with this opinion as may in the trial court's discretion be appropriate, including consideration of the Trust's counterclaim for attorney's fees and costs against the Mussells." 1305 Rhode Island Ave. NW, LLC v. Mussells, 292 A.3d 212, 220 (D.C. 2022)

B. 1305 LLC's claim to its attorneys' fees is not authorized by the express language of the statute or any other conclusive authority.

In interpreting a statute such as the TOPA statute upon which 1305 LLC's claim relied, "[w]e start, as we must, with the language of the statute." <u>Bailey v. United States</u>, 516 U.S. 137, 144, 116 S.Ct. 501, 133 L.Ed.2d 472 (1995). "The

primary and general rule of statutory construction is that the intent of the lawmaker is to be found in the language that he has used." Peoples Drug Stores, Inc. v. District of Columbia, 470 A.2d 751, 753 (D.C.1983) (en banc) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). "Moreover, in examining the statutory language, it is axiomatic that 'the words of the statute should be construed according to their ordinary sense and with the meaning commonly attributed to them." Tippett v. Daly, 10 A.3d 1123, 1127 (D.C. 2010) (internal citations omitted); see also Davis v. United States, 397 A.2d 951, 956 (D.C. 1979). Here, the applicable statute, D.C. Code § 42-3405.03 is limited by its express language to only "[a]n aggrieved owner, tenant or tenant organization" and does allow for any other party to be entitled to recover attorneys' fees, such as an investor in real estate like 1305 LLC.

TOPA also contains a detailed description of its purpose, as intended by the legislature, none of which includes or suggests any consideration of the purely financial interests of an unrelated business entity that is neither a tenant nor an owner:

D.C. Code § 42–3401.02. Purposes.

In enacting this chapter, the Council of the District of Columbia supports the following statutory purposes:

(1) To discourage the displacement of tenants through conversion or sale of rental property, and to strengthen the bargaining position of tenants toward that end without unduly interfering with the rights of property owners to the due process of law;

- (2) To preserve rental housing which can be afforded by lower income tenants in the District;
- (3) To prevent lower income elderly tenants and tenants with disabilities from being involuntarily displaced when their rental housing is converted;
- (4) To provide incentives to owners, who convert their rental housing, to enable lower income non-elderly tenants and tenants without disabilities to continue living in their current units at costs they can afford;
- (5) To provide relocation housing assistance for lower income tenants who are displaced by conversions;
- (6) To encourage the formation of tenant organizations;
- (6a) To balance and, to the maximum extent possible, meet the sometimes conflicting goals of creating homeownership for lower income tenants, preserving affordable rental housing, and minimizing displacement; and
- (7) To authorize necessary actions consistent with the findings and purposes of this chapter.

There is no expression of legislative intent to preserve, protect or promote the interests of anyone other than tenants and owners. TOPA is remedial in character, and any ambiguity in the legislation should be construed "toward the end of strengthening the legal rights of tenants or tenant organizations to the maximum extent permissible under law." D.C. Code § 42-3405.11. "Enabling tenants to enjoy such benefits promotes the goals of 'creating home ownership for lower income tenants, preserving affordable rental housing, and minimizing displacement." Richman Towers Tenants' Ass'n Inc. v. Richman Towers LLC, 17 A.3d 590, 619 (D.C. 2011). See also 1618 Twenty-First St. Tenants' Ass'n, Inc. v.

The Phillips Collection, 829 A.2d 201, 203 (D.C. 2003). (The "overarching purpose [of the statute] is to protect tenant rights.").

By its plain and clear language, neither § 42-3401.02 (carefully defining the purpose of TOPA) nor § 42-3405.03 (allowing for fee-shifting despite the American Rule) encompass *assignees* of an aggrieved party where such assignees have no other standing or entitlement. Again, the entire structure of the TOPA statutes is designed to protect tenants and facilitate their access to judicial relief where needed, not outside investors in real estate opportunities who need no such protection or aid through recovery of legal expenses. TOPA is clearly not designed to benefit such companies, nor is it designed to punish potential purchasers of real property such as Appellants who never violated TOPA in any way.

Considering the clear statutory purpose, it bears repeating that the tenants in this case were not aggrieved, in that they were never named as parties and instead voluntarily accepted a substantial payment from 1305 LLC to *not* be involved in litigation. Once they accepted their payments, they no longer had any claims or grievances to enforce. As such they never asserted any claims in this lawsuit and thus were never able to be a prevailing party. Their rights to recover any legal expenses under § 42-3405.03 were nullified at the time of assignment.

In the Malik case cited by 1305 LLC, the trial court considered the owner's apparent lack of good faith bargaining when exercising its discretion in awarding legal fees to the third-party purchaser. "TOPA directs the owner to provide tenants a copy of the contract with the third party, D.C. Code § 42-3404.03, and considers that any owner is bargaining without good faith when he offers any third party a property for less than ninety percent of the sales price offered to the tenant. D.C. Code 42-3404.05(a-1). Here, Malik failed to provide Tenacity with a finalized copy of the third-party contract...". Malik, *supra* at 1062. Also, "[t]he trial court stated that Malik's respective prices to Bogden Builders and Tenacity, 'raises serious concerns' about Malik's good faith." Id. at footnote 1.

The issue of bad faith was also raised in <u>Blodnikar</u>, where the Court commented that "the Blodnikars argue for the first time in their reply brief that a prevailing party in a TOPA action should presumptively be awarded attorney's fees, even in the absence of bad faith on the part of the losing party." <u>Blodnikar</u> at 570. The Court declined to answer the question. So, between <u>Blodnikar</u> and <u>Malik</u>, where bad faith was also discussed in the context of the judge's discretion, it appears to remain an open question. What is known is that Appellants in this case operated only in good faith throughout this process and there have been no allegations otherwise.

Finally, there are certainly no cases in the District of Columbia where a third-party assignee of tenant rights was held to be *automatically* entitled to recover attorneys' fees under TOPA, regardless of whether such assignee was considered an "aggrieved party". The opinion in <u>Wallasey Tenants Ass'n, Inc. v. Varner, 892 A.2d 1135 (D.C. 2006)</u> is also noteworthy:

In a separate action, the Fairbairn Parties appeal claiming that the trial court erred when it determined that they were not "aggrieved" and, thus, were not entitled to attorneys' fees. The decision to award attorneys' fees is reserved to the sound discretion of the trial court and will be reversed only upon a showing of abuse... The issue before us is whether the trial court erred in refusing to award attorneys' fees to the Fairbairn Parties pursuant to D.C.Code § 42-3405.03.

The trial court was correct in determining that the Fairbairn Parties were not "aggrieved" parties, and were thus outside of the Act's allowance of attorneys' fees. The Act states that, "[a]n aggrieved owner, tenant, or tenant organization may seek enforcement of any right or provision under this chapter through a civil action in law or equity, and, upon prevailing, may seek an award of costs and reasonable attorney fees." D.C.Code § 42-3405.03. A plain reading of the statute indicates that the right to collect attorneys' fees is only available to the party that brought the suit. If the Council intended to allow defending parties to recover attorneys' fees simply by prevailing in the suit, then they would have done so.

In this case, the Fairbairn Parties' were not seeking to enforce their own rights; rather, they were defending against an action brought by the Tenants. As such, the Fairbairn Parties had no basis to request attorneys' fees and the trial court did not err in denying the request.

In this case, it is true that 1305 filed a Counterclaim and were not merely defending against Appellants claims. Again, however, 1305 made no claim for

attorneys' fees or otherwise preserved the issue on appeal while the other parties did. 1305 LLC should also not be considered a prevailing party under the reasoning of the Court in <u>Varner</u>.

Considering the facts and circumstances of the parties and claims in this case, the legislative intent and purpose of TOPA, the precise wording of the operable statute and the case law described above, 1305 LLC is not entitled to recover its attorneys' fees from Appellants. The trial court's unconsidered award is this regard was erroneous and should be revered.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE TRUSTEES ARE ENTITLED TO RECOVER THEIR ATTORNEYS' FEES.

A. <u>The Trustees' motion for attorneys' fees was untimely and should</u> have been denied on that basis alone.

Following the Court's reversal of the trial court's judgment on December 2, 2022, the Trustees did not move for attorney's fees and costs until February 10, 2023, which was well beyond the fourteen days allowed under D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 54(d)(2)(B)(i). Their motion was therefore untimely and should have been denied. The trial court erred and/or abused its discretion by not considering the argument or explaining its reasoning for overlooking this procedural requirement.

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