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

#### **ARGUMENT**

This Court should affirm the decision of the lower court for three reasons. First, the crux of this appeal can be resolved by a straightforward reading of Superior Court Rule 54(d). All that Rule requires is that a claim for attorneys' fees and costs be filed "no later than 14 days after the entry of judgment." D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 54(d)(2)(B)(i) (emphasis added). 1305 LLC's Motion for Fees is timely because 1305 LLC filed it in January 2023—months before the lower court entered the July 11 Judgment Order following the reversal and remand in Mussells I. Appellants' suggestion that a claim for attorneys' fees must be filed within 14 days of an Order from this Court reversing and remanding a case must be rejected as illogical, unsupported by the plain language of Rule 54(d), and contrary to the Advisory Committee Notes thereto. Moreover, read in the proper context, the caselaw Appellants offer for their misapplication of Rule 54(d) militates in support of 1305 LLC's position: that the triggering event of the fourteen-day limitation begins with the entry of judgment in the lower court, not with an order or mandate of this Court.

Second, 1305 LLC—as assignee, standing in the shoes of tenants by way of an assignment of rights under TOPA—is entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to TOPA as if sought by the tenants themselves. D.C. Code § 42-3405.03 permits the "enforcement of any right" under TOPA, and, "upon prevailing, . . . an award of costs and reasonable attorney[s'] fees." TOPA also

unequivocally permits tenants to assign their rights. Permitting an award of attorneys' fees and an assignment of TOPA rights—comports with the legislature's intention of strengthening tenants' rights, which necessarily includes affording tenants the opportunity to contract with third parties to convey such rights in exchange for good and valuable consideration. As a prevailing party following reversal and remand in *Mussells I*, the lower court correctly awarded 1305 LLC attorneys' fees and costs.

Third, the lower court gave due consideration to all parties' arguments regarding the award of attorneys' fees and costs. Any intimation that the lower court did not consider Appellants' arguments below or that it "rubber-stamp[ed]" the request for attorneys' fees and costs is simply belied by the record. To the contrary, the lower court held numerous hearings and received and reviewed ample briefing and billing records (including *three* separate oppositions filed by the Mussells) before *sua sponte* setting the August 7 hearing, wherein it gave all parties—including the Mussells—a fulsome opportunity to be heard. This Court should not disturb the lower court's sound exercise of discretion in granting attorneys fees' and costs.

For each of these reasons, this Court should affirm.

# A. 1305 LLC Timely Filed its Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs When it did so Before "Entry of Judgment" in the Superior Court.

Appellants' argument that 1305 LLC's Motion for Fees is untimely because 1305 LLC did not file such a motion "within fourteen days of the *reversal* of the trial court's judgment on December 2, 2022," must fail. App. Br. at 9 (emphasis added). The fourteen-day limitation contained in the plain language of Rule 54(d)(2)(B)(i) is triggered by the "entry of judgment" in the lower court. Appellants suggest—without a single citation for support—that 1305 LLC had fourteen days from this Court's December 2 Order reversing the judgment of the lower court to file its Motion for Fees. This cannot be. The requisite "entry of judgment" occurred when the lower court entered its July 11 Judgment Order, as directed by this Court's earlier mandate. Because 1305 LLC filed its Motion for Fees and Supplement to Motion for Fees before the entry of judgment below, it is necessarily timely.

# 1. Motion for Attorneys' Fees is Timely Under Rule 54(d) if it is Filed No Later than 14 Days After Entry of Judgment.

This Court's analysis begins and ends with the language of Rule 54(d). Under the plain language of that Rule, 1305 LLC's Motion for Fees is timely because it was filed *before* the lower court's entry of judgment. Astonishingly, Appellants'

Under Appellants' theory, 1305 LLC was required to seek fees by December 16, 2022, which is fourteen (14) days after the date of the December 2 Order. But, by that point, a mandate from this Court had not yet issued. This further illustrates the speciousness of their argument.

Brief fails to quote—even once—the language of Rule 54(d), which Appellants contend provides the basis for reversal. The plain language of Rule 54(d) flatly contradicts Appellants' argument, stating that a claim for attorneys' fees and costs must "be filed no later than 14 days after the *entry of judgment*." D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 54(d)(2)(B)(i) (emphasis added). This mirrors the language of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 54(d)(2)(B)(i).

"In interpreting Superior Court rules," this Court has long "appl[ied] the broad goal 'to facilitate a proper decision on the merits." *Jones v. Fondufe*, 908 A.2d 1161, 1162 (D.C. 2006) (citation omitted). This Court "may utilize the same methods of statutory construction in interpreting the procedural rule as [it] would use in interpreting the meaning of a statute"—that is, by "look[ing] to the plain meaning of the words, to the legislative history, and to the interpretations that have been placed on the rule by other courts." *Varela v. Hi-Lo Powered Stirrups, Inc.*, 424 A.2d 61, 65 (D.C. 1980).

Where a Superior Court rule is "substantially similar" to its federal counterpart, this Court has found it useful to "look to federal court decisions interpreting the federal rule as persuasive authority in interpreting the local rule." *Colvin v. Howard Univ.*, 257 A.3d 474, 485 n.11 (D.C. 2021) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted); *see also Carter v. Saxon*, 358 A.2d 639, 641 n.2 (D.C. 1976) ("Superior Court rules are to be interpreted and construed in light of the

Federal Rules where the corresponding provisions are literally or substantially identical.") (citation omitted). Additionally, in interpreting rules of the Superior Court, this Court "frequently find[s] guidance in the advisory committee's notes to the corresponding federal rule." *C.R. Calderon Constr., Inc. v. Grunley Constr. Co.*, 257 A.3d 1046, 1059 (D.C. 2021) (internal quotation marks omitted).

The plain language of Rule 54(d) unambiguously provides that a claim for attorneys' fees and costs must "be filed no later than 14 days after the *entry of judgment*." D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 54(d)(2)(B)(i). It follows, then, that any claim filed *before* the entry of judgment is necessarily timely because it occurs "no later than 14 days after" the triggering event: entry of judgment.

Beyond the plain language, this Court has relied on the advisory committee's note to subdivision (d) of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure ("FRCP") 54 before, which confirms this understanding. *See C.R. Calderon*, 257 A.3d at 1059 (relying on Advisory Committee Note to FRCP 54 in interpreting Superior Court Rule 54); *District of Columbia v. Jackson*, 878 A.2d 489, 492 (D.C. 2005) ("*Jackson*") (observing that the Superior Court rule "is virtually identical to its federal counterpart, and the explanatory note accompanying the rule is entirely consistent with the more extensive federal advisory committee's notes to the corresponding federal rule").

Specifically, following the 1993 Amendments to FRCP 54, the advisory committee explained:

Subparagraph (B) provides a deadline for motions for attorneys' fees—14 days after final judgment unless the court or a statute specifies some other time.

\* \* \*

A new period for filing will automatically begin if a new judgment is entered following a reversal or remand by the appellate court....

Advisory Committee Note to Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 54 (1993) (hereinafter "Advisory Committee Note") (emphasis added). This language confirms that the entry of judgment, not the order or opinion directing reversal, is the triggering event for purposes of Rule 54. And, where the lower court enters a new judgment after an appeal that results in reversal or remand—as occurred here—a new fourteen-day period begins.

Given the plain language of Rule 54 and the clarity of the Rule's application—evidenced by the Advisory Committee Note—it comes as no surprise that the cases Appellants cite in their brief, *see* App. Br. 10–11, actually militate in favor of 1305 LLC and confirm that the fourteen-day limitation in Rule 54(d) begins to run from entry of judgment, not an appellate court's order of reversal or remand.

In Zuniga v. Whiting-Turner Contracting Co., this Court recognized that the fourteen-day period to file a motion for attorneys' fees began to run from the entry

of the Superior Court's order that constituted "a 'judgment' within the meaning of Rule 54." 270 A.3d 897, 905 (D.C. 2022). Indeed, to the very issue at the heart of this appeal, Appellants cannot escape *Zuniga*'s clear application of the Rule: "Rule 54(d)(2)(B) states the 14-day period starts to run when the judgment entitling the movant to attorneys' fees is *entered*." *Id.* (emphasis in original).

In *Jackson*, this Court faced a similar fact pattern insofar as the appellant in that case successfully obtained a reversal on appeal. This Court explained:

[B]oth the explanatory and the advisory committee notes provide for a new filing period in the event of a reversal or remand, but not an affirmance, as the reversal or remand could potentially change which party would be entitled to attorney's fees. Thus, the "new period for filing" provides newly-prevailing parties the opportunity to request attorney's fees....

Jackson, 878 A.2d at 493–94 (emphasis omitted).

The plain language of Rule 54(d), the Advisory Committee Note thereto, and this Court's caselaw uniformly lead to the conclusion that a motion for attorneys' fees and costs is timely if filed within fourteen days of the lower court's entry of judgment.

# 2. The Lower Court's July 11 Judgment Order Constitutes the "Entry of Judgment" From Which the 14-Day Period Began to Run.

Rule 54(a) defines "judgment" to "include[] a decree and any order from which an appeal lies." D.C. Super. Ct. R. 54(a). The lower court's July 11 Judgment Order constitutes the "entry of judgment" that in turn started the clock on the time

for a prevailing party to file a claim for attorneys' fees. By July 11, however, 1305 LLC already filed its claim for attorneys' fees and costs. In fact, it did so in *January*, months *before* the deadline to do so had elapsed. Necessarily then, 1305 LLC's motion is timely filed.

Appellants' suggestion that this Court's December 2 Order is the triggering event that started the fourteen-day period under Rule 54(d) is illogical. First, this Court's December 2 Order does not meet the definition of a "judgment," under Rule 54, because it is not an "order from which an appeal lies." D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 54(a). Second, this Court's December 2 Order—and, to be sure, its December 22 Amended Order—did not enter a declaratory judgment or award specific performance. Instead, those orders directed the lower court to enter such relief and remanded the case for further proceedings to evaluate entitlement to fees and enter judgment accordingly. App'x 0053 ("[T]hese cases are remanded to the Superior Court for further proceedings consistent with this order . . . "); App'x 0055 ("[T]he case is remanded to the Superior Court for further proceedings consistent with this order, including consideration of pending counterclaims and requests for attorney's [sic] fees and costs."). That these Orders contemplated an entry of judgment by the lower court shows that they cannot be the triggering event for purposes of Rule 54(d).

In accordance with this Court's directive, the lower court proceeded on the issues set out in this Court's December 22 Amended Order and subsequent opinion in *Mussells I*. It entered judgment on July 11, as directed by this Court, and, in connection with this Court's Orders, conducted "further proceedings" relating to attorneys' fees and costs. Specifically, it established a briefing schedule, received briefing on entitlement to attorneys' fees and costs, and held multiple hearings, before entering a final judgment that complied with the requirements of Rule 54(a) on August 8, 2023.

Critically, "[a]n award of attorney's fees is final when the trial court has 'determined the quantum of attorney's fees to be paid,' not when the trial court 'merely establishe[s] entitlement to attorney's fees in an amount to be later determined." *Linen v. Lanford*, 945 A.2d 1173, 1182 (D.C. 2008) (quoting *Marlyn Condo., Inc. v. McDowell*, 576 A.2d 1346, 1347 n. 1 (D.C. 1990) (alterations in *Marlyn*)).

Here, the August 8 Judgment Order determined the actual amount of attorneys' fees and costs to be paid, thus rendering it a final order. On that point, there can be no serious doubt because the August 8 Judgment Order is also the order from which the aggrieved party—the Mussells—noted an appeal on September 6, 2023. And, this series of events confirms the policy that animates Rule 54(d). *See* Advisory Committee Note ("One purpose of this provision is to assure that the

opposing party is informed of the claim before the time for appeal has elapsed."). Rule 54 ensures that the prevailing party has an opportunity to request attorneys' fees and costs following the entry of judgment and that an aggrieved party has sufficient time to note an appeal, should it choose to do so. As the Rules contemplate, that is precisely what occurred below.

This Court should affirm.

## B. The Award of Attorneys' Fees and Costs to 1305 LLC is Authorized by TOPA and Confirmed by the Statute's Purpose and Nature

D.C. Code § 42-3405.03 provides that "[a]n aggrieved owner, tenant, or tenant organization may seek enforcement of any right or provision under this chapter through a civil action in law or equity, and, upon prevailing, may seek an award of costs and reasonable attorney fees." As part of the assignment agreement that 1305 LLC entered into (the "Assignment"), the Tenants:

unconditionally and irrevocably assign[ed] their rights, benefits, interests, duties and obligations of TOPA Rights to Developer, and absolutely transfer[ed] and assign[ed] to Developer all rights of the Tenants under the TOPA Rights, authorizing and empowering Developer to exercise all rights and remedies available under TOPA,

20

Appellants suggest that 1305 LLC's request for fees must be included in its counterclaim. This is not so and this Court may easily dispense with that argument. First, the cases upon which Appellants rely do not support this proposition. *See generally*, App. Br. at 11–12. Second, as described in more detail here, 1305 LLC's entitlement to attorneys' fees and costs is derived by statute and need not be set out in a counterclaim. And, even if it did, 1305 LLC preserved its right to seek attorneys' fees and costs by including in its "Prayer for Relief" a request "for such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper." App'x 0050.

the TOPA Rights or by law without the necessity of further action on the part of Tenants.

Supp. App'x 2. Standing in the shoes of the tenants by way of the Assignment, 1305 LLC is entitled to exercise the tenants' statutory rights, including their right to an award of attorneys' fees and costs. *See, e.g., Malik Corp. v. Tenacity Grp., LLC*, 961 A.2d 1057, 1059 (D.C. 2008) (declining to set aside trial court's award of attorneys' fees to Tenacity Group, LLC, which was the assignee of rights from a tenant organization).

To be sure, the statute's purpose paragraphs and remedial nature bolster this conclusion. See D.C. Code § 42-3401.02(1) (noting that the statute is designed to "strengthen the bargaining position of the tenants"); id. at § 42-3405.11 (directing that ambiguity be resolved "toward the end of strengthening the legal rights of tenants... to the maximum extent permissible under the law"). Part and parcel with strengthening tenants' rights, as here, is enabling tenants to freely contract away their rights for valuable consideration. To conclude that an assignee of tenants' rights could not recover attorneys' fees and costs would run counter to the purpose of the statute and detract from tenants' bargaining position because such a result would dissuade tenants from assigning their rights. Moreover, such a conclusion would disincentivize assignees from assuming tenants' rights—particularly because it would subject assignees to litigation risks and costs that tenants would not face—

and cause a chilling effect that would severely undercut tenants seeking to facilitate an assignment of rights.

The lower court correctly concluded that 1305 LLC is entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs. This Court should affirm.

# C, The Lower Court, in its Sound Discretion, Awarded Attorneys' Fees and Costs After Giving Appellants' Arguments Due Consideration.

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